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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

VICTORIA A. AMELINA, an CASE NO. 14¢v1906 WQH (NLS)
individual; and A.A., D.S., and B.S.
each individuals and minors by and | ORDER
through their Guardian Ad Litem,
Victoria A. Amelina,

Plaintiff,
Y]

MANUFACTURERS AND

TRADERS TRUST COMPANY aka
M&T BANK; SAFEGUARD _
PROPERTIES, LLC; and THE WOLK
LAW FIRM, A Law Corporation,

Defendant.

HAYES, Judge:
The matters before the Court are (19 Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs’ Secon

Doc. 57

d

Amended Complaint (ECF No. 48), fildy Defendant Manufacturers and Traders

Trust Company (“M&T"), (2) the Motiorto Dismiss Plaintiffs’ Second Amendsé
Complaint (ECF No. 49), filed by Defend&dfeguard Propertids|.C (“Safeguard”),
and (3) the Motion to Dismiss PlaintifSecond Amended Complaint (ECF No. 5
filed by Defendant Wolf Law Firm.
BACKGROUND
On August 13, 2014, Plaintiff Victoria Amelina, and Plaintiffs A.A., D.S.,

B.S., each minors by and through their Guardidriitem, Victoria Amelina, initiated
this action by filing a Complaint in this CaufECF No. 1). On October 30, 2014, {
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Court issued an Order granting the jombtion for leave to file a first amend¢

complaint, and the proposed first ameshdemplaint (“FAC”) (ECF No. 12) becan
the operative pleading. (ECF No. 13).

On March 12, 2015, the Court grantedfendants’ Motions to Dismiss (EQ
Nos. 18, 20, 28). (ECF N@5). The Court corladed that Plaintiffs’ FAC failed tq
allege sufficient facts to state a claim untiee Fair Debt Collection Practices A
(“FDCPA”) against any of the Defendant§he Court concluded that the FAC falil
to allege facts sufficient to allow the Coto draw the inference that Defendant Md

was a “debt collector” subjett FDCPA regulationsld. at 11. The Court conclude

that the FAC failed to allege facts sofént to support Plaintiffs’ allegation th
Defendant Safeguard “was attpting to collect a debt.”ld. at 13. The Cour
concluded that the FAC failed &dlege facts sufficient tallow the Court to infer thg
Defendant Wolf Law Firm was a debt collecor was attempting to collect a delt.
at 15.

On May 22, 2015, Plaintiffs filed a Matn to Amend/Correct Complaint. (EC

No. 42). On June 30, 2015, the Court issardrder granting Plaintiffs’ Motion fg
Leave to File Second Amended Compla{i@CF No. 46). On June 30, 2015, Plaint
filed a Second Amended Complaint (“SACWwhich became the operative pleadi
(ECF No. 47).

On July 14, 2015, Defendant M&T filed a Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs’ Seq
Amended Complaint. (ECF No. 48). Ondust 3, 2015, Plaintiffs filed an oppositig
(ECF No. 51). On August 10, 2015, Defend®I&T filed a reply. (ECF No. 53).

On July 16, 2015, Defendant Safeguéiled a Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs
Second Amended Complaint. (ECF No. 49Dn August 3, 2015, Plaintiffs filed &
opposition. (ECF No. 52). On August 015, Defendant Safegukfiled a reply.
(ECF No. 54).

OnJuly 21, 2015, Defendant Wolf Law Fifiied a Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffg
Second Amended Complaint. (ECF No. 50n August 10, 2015, Plaintiffs filed &
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opposition. (ECHo. 55). On August 17, 2015, Defendant Wolf Law Firm file
reply. (ECF No. 56).
ALLEGATIONSOF COMPLAINT
Plaintiff Victoria Amelina “is allegd to have incurred certain financ

obligations for a home mortgage account viddmk of America.” (ECF No. 35 147).

“Sometime thereafter, but before July 2613, [Plaintiff Victoria Amelina] alleged|
fell behind in the payments alladjg owed on the alleged debtld.  50. “[T]he
alleged debt was assighelaced, or otherwise transfadite Lakeview Loan Servicin

who subsequently assignedagkd, or otherwise transferred the debt to M&T Bank

collection.” Id. 151.
“On or about July 252013, M&T Bank mailed a letter to [Plaintiff Victor
Amelina]” which
expressed that the “servicing” oflintiff Victoria Amelina’s] mortgage
loan account was being transferfeam Bank of America to M&T Bank,
effective on or about August 2, 2013; that “Bank of America will stop

accepting payments on August 1, 2018id “[M&T Bank] will begin
g(c)ci%p;’tlng payments from [Plaintiff Varia Amelina] effective August 2,

Id. 7 52-53.

“On or about August 142013, M&T Bank mailed a letter to [Plaintiff Victor
Amelina]. Id. § 55. The letter stated, in part:

1) M&T was now servicing [Plairffi Victoria Amelina’s] mortgage;

2) The amount of debt in connection with the mortgage was ‘$236,704.1

3) Pursuant to the FDCPA, [Plaintiff ViciarAmelina] had thirt)édays to dispuge

the amount of debt and request afiation of the alleged debt; and

d a

al

~ =

for

a

a

A’

4) The name of the creditor to whdhe debt was owed was a company called

‘Lakeview Loan Servicing’
Id. 1 58. “Twenty three dayater, on September 9, 201BJaintiff Victoria Amelina]
disputed the debt, in writing, with M&T B&, consistent with the thirty day tim
requirement of the FDCPA and CaliforrsaRosenthal Act for disputing debtld.
60. “Consequently, pursuant to 15 U.S§(1692g(b), and Cal. Civ. Code § 1788.
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M&T Bank was now required to cease collection of the debt until [] it obts
verification of the debt and produced thatifieation to [Plaintiff Victoria Amelina],
in writing.” Id. § 61.

“[F]Jrom September 17, 20XBrough February 5, 201M&T Bank sent multiple

collection letters to [Plaintiff Victoridmelina], each time deanding payment, a;Jd

each time violating the FDCPA and Califais Rosenthal Act in that they w
collecting without verification.”ld. § 63. “By communicating with [Plaintiff Victori

Amelina] by mail before validating the lole as required pursuant to 15 U.S.G.

1692g(b), M&T Bank violated 15 U.S.€1692g and Cal. Civ. Code § 1788.1d.
64. “[T]he natural onsequence of [the letters] wahrass, oppress, or abuse a pe
in connection with the collection of a debtld. § 65. “M&T Bank initiated this

ined

re
2}
§

son

onslaught of letters as to Plaintiff [] in effort to abusively mislead and coerce herJi:\to

paying more than was actually owed to M&T Bankd. I 69. “During all releva
times, M&T Bank refused to provide valiian or fully explain who ‘Lakeview Loal
Servicing’ was and the relatiship between the differenttéres listed in the letters.
Id. 1 53.

“Subsequently, at the instruction M&T, Safeguard Properties, LLC sent

[Plaintiff Victoria Amelina] a pink postcandith printing clearly visible on both side

to anyone who had access to Pi#fis mail or processed it.'1d. { 71. “This postcarg

was sent to [Plaintiff Victoria Amelinafor the purpose of conveying informati

regarding a debt directly or indirectly [®laintiff Victoria Amelina], and was also fq

the purpose of collecting this alleged delvtl’f 73. The postcard stated the followi
Dear Property Resident

Safeguard Properties, LLC is contlng a monthly audit on behalf of
M&T Bank in order to verify the occupancy of your property.

Please contact our Special Operator at 866-969-9859 to confirm only that
you are presently residing at this property.

Thank you.

Mortgagor: You are entitled to contact M&T Bank regarding a face to
interview at our Buffalo NY Office. 800-724-1633.

-4 - 14¢v1906 WQH (NLS)

\

)

S

face



© 00 N O 0o A W N P

N NN N DNNDNNDNDRRRRR R R B B
0w N O 0~ W N PFP O © 0N O 0O M W N R O

Id. 1 74. “The purpose of this communicatwerth [Plaintiff Victoria Amelina] was tg

convey information regding a debt directly or indirectly to [Plaintiff VictorE
i

Amelina], specifically, the name and telephonenber of M&T to encourage [Plaint
Victoria Amelina] to contact M&T Banlso that M&T Bank could collect the de
alleged to be owed, inoation of the FDCPA and @G#ornia’s Rosenthal Act.”ld. §
75. “Through these actions, Defendante§aard was taking actions to facilite
M&T’s effort to collect the alleged debt.Id. § 76.

“On January 4, 2014, Safeguard, at thetrunction of M&T Bank sent an age

bt

te

Nt

to Plaintiffs’ home.” Id. § 83. At the instruction ddafeguard and M&T [B]ank, t

e

intruder attempted to physically enter the leooh[Plaintiff Victoria Amelina] and hefr

minor children. Id. § 84. “[Plaintiff Victoria Amelina] was not home during this

incident, however, her children, A.A., D.&nd B.S., who were nine, twelve,

seventeen years of age respvely, were at home.ld. 185. “During this incident, th
intruder attempted to force entry into the homle.”| 86. “A.A. repeatedly asked wik
was at the door, and the intruder failed to identify himself, responding on

demanding that A.A. open the door and allom innmediate entry into the property.

nd
8]
10

ly by

Id. § 88. “The intruder then continued batter on the door with more force and

eventually told A.A. that if she did not ap¢he door immediately, her parents wo
‘be in big trouble.” Id. 9 90. “Through these actiori3efendant Safeguard at t
instruction and assistance of M&T Hg intended and took effort to effe
dispossession and disablement of Plaintiffs’ property . 1d..Y 102.

“Subsequently, on January Z&)14, M&T Bank sent anber letter to [Plaintiff]

Victoria Amelina], in an attempt to colleatdebt, still without verifying the allege
debt. Id. § 103. “This letter stated, in pathat [Plaintiff Victoria Amelina’s]
‘mortgage documents have been forwartiedur attorney’s office for foreclosu
proceedings’ and that ‘all communicatioosncerning the mortgage must now
directed to: Wolf Law Firm . . . .1d.  105.

“Subsequently, on January 30, 2014, M&ank sent two more letters
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[Plaintiff Victoria Amelina], stating that the foreclosure process had begun but [P
Victoria Amelina] still had alternatives if she contacted M&T Bank, even thg
[Plaintiff Victoria Amelina] had previodg been told not tacontact M&T Bank buf
contact only Wolf Law Firm.” Id. § 109. “In reality, M&T Bank had not begy
foreclosure proceedings, and was usitigs false, deceptive, or misleadi
representation or means in connection Wi collection of debt to coerce paym:d
from [Plaintiff Victoria Amelina] . .. .”1d. § 110.

“On April 28, 2014, the Wolf Law Firm sefRlaintiff Victoria Amelina] ten (10)
identical letters . . . . [Plaintiff Victoria Aelina] received all ofhese letters at once
few days later.” Id.  112. “In response, Plaintient Defendant a request f{
validation within 30 days of receiving Wi April 28, 2014 letters, just as she h
previously done wh M&T Bank.” Id. § 115. “[O]n or about July of 2014 Wa
continued its abusive behavemmd sent ten (10) more copafsanother letter dated Ju
22,2014.”1d. § 116. “Each of these letters urdgddintiff Victoria Amelina to pay thg

alleged debt or suffehe consequences of foreclosurkl’ 1 113, 118. “The purpos

for sending all of these letters from a lamrfiwas to intimidate and embarrass [Plain
Victoria Amelina] and her family and to alert third parties that [Plaintiff Vict
Amelina] had legal problems.td. 19 114, 120. “[O]nce Wolf recorded a Notice
Trustee Sale, Wolf mailed an additional twetwo (22) copies to Plaintiff of th
Notice . ...”ld. 1 121. “Wolf's only purpose of semdj twenty-two (22) letters is
intimidate and harass [Plaintiff Victoria Amelina]ld. § 122.

“On at least two other occasions, [Rtéf Victoria Amelina and her] family
noticed strangers conducting surveillancePtaintiffs’ home, which included aga
trying to open Plaintiffs’ entrance dodwpking through windows, and taking pictur
of the outside and inside of Plaintiffs’ home (through the windowt).’y] 126. “In

nintiff
pugh

tiff
Dria

of

D

0

n

eS

reality, these visits by Safeguard, at the instruction of M&T Bank, were intimidation

attempts which Safeguaathd M&T Bank try to justify by stting that the intrusions a
simply efforts to secure the propertyld. § 128.
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Shortly thereafter, [Plaintiff Victorianne Amelina] began noticingg that
Defendant was chargln% her ftome Inspections’ on her monthly
mortgage statements. The dateenenced for the ‘Home Inspection’
entries on LPIalntlff Victoria Amelinag] monthly mortgage statments from
M&T Bank were consistent with ¢ dates when [%Ialntlff Victoria
AmellnaILar]d Plaintiffs’ family nbced strangersanducting surveillance
1<':;1r0L_J|nd laintiffs’ home in order to stalk and harass Plaintiffs and their
amily.

Id. § 129. “M&T Bank engaged in conduct the natumaisequence of which was

harass, oppress, or abuse a@era connection with the cettion of a debt . . . .1d.

1 130.

“As a result of M&T Bank’s illegal behasr, Plaintiffs and Plaintiffs’ family
have not felt safe in their own home foomths, and are in constant fear for th
physical safety as well as having to endueerttental anguish that such conduct brir
“A.A. is afraid to sleep withouter lights on, out of fear that the intruder or some g

agent of M&T Bank or Safeguard willytito break into the house againld. § 135.

eir
10S.
ther

“[Plaintiff Victoria Amelina] is experiencig intense anxiety, and has difficulty sleepjng

at night, causing her to be drowsy and lethargitd” § 136. “[Plaintiff Victoria
Amelina] feels helpless arfdars for the safety of heelf and her family.”ld. § 137.
“As a result of M&T Bank ad Safeguard’s relentlessliextion tactics [Plaintiff
Victoria Amelina] has been diagnosed wsdvere depression@anxiety and has beg
prescribed anti-depssant medication.ld. § 138. “Defendantsave continued sendir
collection letters to [Plaintiff Victoria Amima], which aggravates [her] stress, anxie
and depression.1d. { 40.

Plaintiffs assert five claims including (1) violation of the Fair Debt Collec
Practices Act (“FDCPA”), 15 U.S.C. 88 169%e(.; (2) violation of the Rosenthal F
Debt Collection Practices Act, Cal. Cvode 88 1788-1788.32; (3) negligent inflicti
of emotional distress; (4) intentional infilcn of emotional distress; and (5) invasi
of privacy. Id. at 20-25.

LEGAL STANDARD
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Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6yimets dismissal for “failure to state

a claim upon which relief can be granted.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 13(bKéderal Rule of

Civil Procedure 8(a) provides that “[a]galding that states a claim for relief must
contain . . . a short and plain statemerthefclaim showing that the pleader is entitled
torelief.” Fed. R. Civ. R8(a)(2). Dismissal under Rul2(b)(6) is appropriate whefe
the complaint lacks a cognizable legal themrgufficient facts to support a cognizable
legal theory.See Balistreri v. Pacifica Police Dep301 F.2d 696, 699 (9th Cir. 1990).

“[A] plaintiff's obligation to provide tle ‘grounds’ of his ‘entitle[ment] to relief

requires more than labels and conclusions, and a formulaic recitation of the elemer

of a cause of action will not doBell Atl. Corp. v. Twomb|y650 U.S. 544, 555 (2007)

(quoting Fed. R. Civ. P. 8]). When considering a motion to dismiss, a court must

accept as true all “well-pleaded factual allegatiomsshcroft v. Iqbal556 U.S. 662

679 (2009). However, a court is not “requir® accept as true allegations that [are
merely conclusory, unwarraad deductions of fact, or unreasonable inferenges.
Sprewell v. Golden State Warrigi266 F.3d 979, 988 (9th Cir. 2001). “In sum, fqr a
complaint to survive a motion to dismighe non-conclusory factual content, gnd
reasonable inferences from that contentist be plausibly suggestive of a clgim
entitling the plaintiff to relief.”"Moss v. U.S. Secret Servi&&2 F.3d 962, 969 (9th Cir.

=

2009) (internal quotation marks omitted).
FEDERAL LAW CLAIM: FDCPA

The FDCPA prohibits debt collectors fncengaging in abusive, deceptive, and

unfair practices in the collection of consumer deltsel5 U.S.C. § 1692. To state
claim under the FDCPA, a plaintiff musllege facts that establish that

(1) the plaintiff has been the objedftcollection activity arising from a
consumer debt; (2) the defendant attempting to colléect the debt qualifies
as a “debt collector” under the FDCPaxd &)t e defedant has engaged
II?Da I;’Rhlblted act or has failedperform a requirement imposed by the

See Pratap v. WellBargo Bank, N.A.63 F. Supp. 3d 1101, 1113 (N.D. Cal. 20114)
(citing Gomez v. Wells Fargo Home Mqrg011 WL 5834949, at *5 (N.D. Cal. Noy.

-8- 14cv1906 WQH (NLS)
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21, 2011)).
“The term ‘debt collector means ampgrson who uses any instrumentality] of
interstate commerce or the mails in anyibess the principal purpose of which is the
collection of any debts, or who regularlylleats, or attempts to collect, directly ppr
indirectly, debts owed or due or assertede owed or duanother.” 15 U.S.C. 8
1692a(6). The complaint must plead “factuahtent that allows the court to draw the
reasonable inference” that Daflants are “debt collectors3chlegel v. Wells Fargp
Bank, N.A. 720 F.3d 1204, 1208 (9th Cir. 2013) (finding that Plaintiff's comF:Iaint

“fails to provide any factuddasis from which we could pobsy infer that the principal

purpose of Wells Fargo’s business is the collection of debt. Rather, the complaint
factual matter, viewed in a light most favotn Schlegels, establishes only that gebt
collection is some part of Wells Fargo’s buesns, which is insufficient to state a claim
under the FDCPA.").
1. Defendant M& T

In the prior Order granting Defendants’ timms to dismiss Plaintiffs’ FAC, th
Court concluded that Plaintiff Victoria Amelitfailed “to allege facts that would aIIoE/
the Court to draw the reasonable infereithat the principal purpose of Defendant
M&T’s business is the collection of debt(ECF No. 35 at 10). The Court concluded
that Plaintiff failed “to allege facts whichow that Defendant M&T regularly collegts
‘debts owed or due or assertede owed or due anotherld. at 11 (quoting 15 U.S.C.
§ 1692a).

Plaintiff alleges the same facts iret8 AC alleged in the FAC and added new
allegations. Plainfi alleges that “Defendant M&T Bk regularly and as part of ifs
principal business purchases large baicbt defaulted mogage loans which it
thereafter attempts to collect on, foes#, or redeem with Housing and Urhan
Development for cash payment on the FHA insurance policies.” (ECF No. 47(f 21

! Plaintiff Victoria Amelina is the onlylaintiff with standinﬂ to bring a claim
under the FDCPA because she alone is obligated to pay the alleged debit.

-9- 14cv1906 WQH (NLS)
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“Defendant M&T identifies itself as a detxllector in correspondence to consume
Id. 1 22. “Defendant M&T Bank maintairen active collections department tf
routinely collects on defaulted mortgage accountd.”y 23.

Defendant M&T contends that M&T is not a “debt collector” under the FD(

because debt collection is not M&T'’s pripal business purpose. (ECF No. 48-1 at

Defendant asserts that Plaintifisknowledge in the SAC that “onpart of M&T’s
principal business is to buy loans, and thsto those loans it buys, it does any of th
things: it either collects paymts) forecloses, or redeemsld. at 4-5 (emphasis i
original). Defendant assefthat collection of paymeniand debt is only a small pg
of M&T's business.” Id. at 5. Defendant M&T contends that Plaintiffs provide
facts to support the allegation that M&T “reguy collects or attempts to collect t
debts owed to or due anothetd. Defendant M&T contendhat Plaintiffs provide
no facts to support the allegation that “M&dentifies itself as a debt collector in

communications.’ld. Defendant M&T contends thas a mortgage servicing compa
itis not a “debt collector” because “[t]definition of ‘debt collector’ under the FDCP

‘does not include the consumer’s creditasmortgage servicing company, or &

assignee of the debt.Td. at 6 (quotind_al v. Am. Home Servicing, In&80 F. Supp}

2d 1218, 1224 (E.D. Cal. 2010).

In response, Plaintiff coands that “[b]y specifically alleging that a major p
of M&T Bank’s principal operations is tcquire and collect on defaulted mortgag
foreclose, or redeem with HUD, Plaintiffswgesufficiently plea@ plausible claim thg

collection of defaulted debts a principal purpose &fefendant M&T Bank.” (ECH

No. 51 at 18). Plaintiff asserts that eviémllegations regarding M&T’s principé
purpose are insufficient to establish iteadebt collector, “M&T Bank qualifies as
debt collector by regularly collecting onfdalted debts which were originally owg
and due to another, after acqagithem in default statusfd. Plaintiff contends tha
M&T’s collections department “give[s] theference that suchdepartment is taske
with collecting déaulted debts.”Id. at 19. Plaintiff contends that Defendant M{
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Bank does not meet the requirementbdaxcluded from liability under the FDCF
as a mortgage servicing company becauam#if's debt was already in default whg
M&T acquired it. Id. at 19-20.

In response to Plaintiff's argumentathDefendant should not qualify ag
mortgage servicer under the FDCPA becau&d acquired the loan in default stat

(ECF No. 51 at 18), Defendant M&T cont¥s that Plaintiffs’ SAC “does not eve
admit to delinquency at any tenmuch less before M&Tdzame the Loan’s servicel.

(ECF No. 53 at 4). Defendant M&T conterttat “while at most the SAC admits th
Amelina was in arrears on her Loan, M83dok over servicing befe it sent its breac

letter and long before the trustee declareditian in default by recording its [Noti¢

of Default] in April 2014.” Id.

In order to fall within the definition ofdebt collector,” Plaintiffs’ SAC must

provide a factual basis from wah the Court could plausibipfer that (1) the principa
purpose of Defendant M&T’s business is tdo#lection of debt, or (2) that Defenda
M&T regularly collects debtswed or due anotheBee Schlegel20 F.3d at 1208. Th
“FDCPA’s definition of debt collector ‘d@enot include the consumer’s creditorg
mortgage servicing company, or any assgnof the debt, so long as the debt was
in default at the time it was assigned\bol v. HomeQ Servicing53 F. Supp. 2

1047, 1052 (E.D. Cal 2009) (quotiigrry v. Stewart Title Cp756 F.2d 1197, 1208

(5th Cir. 1985)). “In applying the FD@® courts have repeatedly distinguish

nt
e
, a

not

j -

ed

between a debt that is in default and a deditis merely outstanding, emphasizing that

only after some period of time doesautstanding debt go into defaultAlibrandi v.
Financial Outsourcing Services, In833 F.3d 82, 86 (2d Ci2003) (internal citation
and quotation marks omittedee also Fontell v. Hassehi74 Fed. Appx. 278, 27
(4th Cir. 2014) (“Although ‘default’ is nadefined by the FDCR, a default generally
does not occur immediately upon a debt Ineéiog due, unless the terms of the part
relevant agreement dictate otherwise.”).

Whether Defendant M&T isutside the definition oflebt collector under thie
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FDCPA because of M&T'’s statas a mortgage servicgepends on whether Plaint

ff

Victoria Amelina’s loan was in default #ite time Lakeview Loan Servicing acquired

the loan and hired M&T Bank to service it. Plaintiffs’ SAC alleges that

Sometime before July 25, 2013, [Plain¥fictoria Amelina] is alleged to have

E&murr_ed certain financial obligatiofer a home mortgage account with Bank
merica.

Sometime thereafter, but before JQE,e2013, [Plaintiff Victoria Amelina]
allegedly fell behind in the paymeraegedly owed on the alleged debit.
As it is irrelevant to this action, &htiffs currently take no position as to
the validity of this alleged debit.

Subsequently, the allegedadevas assi‘?ned placed,atherwise transferred {
Lakeview Loan Servicing who subseqtlg assigned, placed, or otherwise
transferred the debt to M&T Bank for Collection

On or about July 25, 201B1&T Bank mailed a letter to Victoria . . .. This letfer

expressed that the “servicing” oflintiff Victoria Amelina’s] mort%age
loan account was being transferfemm Bank of America to M&T Bank

ECF No. 47 1Y 47-48, 50-53.
The FDCPA does not define the tefgefault,” however, other courts ha
defined the term within the context oetiRrDCPA exception for mortgage service

Courts have held that “a debt that isrelg outstanding” is not a “debt that is |i

default.”See Alibrandi333 F.3d at 86. Under this umsi@nding of the term “default
even if Plaintiff Victoria Amelina had fied to make payments on her loan priof
M&T initiating servicing, the facts alleged the SAC are not sufficient to show th

the loan was in default ba®it was acquired by Lakeviekwan Servicing. Plaintiff$

have not alleged that Plaintiff Victorfamelina received any notice that the mortg:
loan agreement had belereached prior to the breach letter from M&T on August
2013. (ECF No. 47 at 1 58). Plaintiffeogide no facts to suppiothe allegation thg
Plaintiff’'s mortgage loan was in “defiuunder the meaning of the FDCPA prior
Lakeview Loan Servicing acquiring the loand hiring M&T Bank to service itin Ju
2013. Because the facts alleged in the SAfnot support an inference that the g

was in default at the time M&T beganrgeing it, M&T qualifies as a mortgage

servicer under the FDCPA. A mortgage s&gv is not a debt collector under t
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FDCPA.

Even if Defendant M&T Bank did not glifg as a mortgage servicer under the

the FDCPA, Plaintiff has not alleged suféat facts to show that Defendant M&

would otherwise constitute a debt collector under the FDCPA. Taking Plait

allegations as true, Defendant M&T
purchases large batches of defaliteortgage loans which it thereafter
attempts to collect on, forecloser, redeem with Housing and Urban
Development for cash payment on FHAunance policies. . . . identifies
itself as a debt collector in cogmondence with consumers. . . . [and]
maintains an active collections dejpaent that routinely collects on
defaulted mortgage accounts.

(ECF No. 47 1121-23). Alleging that “as pairits principal business [M&T] purchas

large batches of defaulted ngage loans which it thereafter attempts to collect

foreclose, or redeem with HousingdaUrban Development for cash payment’

insufficient to show that debt collection is M&Twincipal business purpose, npt

merely a part of its business purposgee Schlegelr20 F.3d at 1208. Plaintiff’
allegation that M&T maintains a collectiodepartment is not sufficient to show th
M&T’s principal purpose is debt collectiar that M&T collects debts on behalf
others rather than using its collectiongaement to collect debts owed to M&
Plaintiff's allegation that M&T self-identifieas a debt collector in communication
conclusory because Plaintiff offers no exaesaf these communitans. Plaintiff hag
not shown that M&T identified itself as alatecollector in any of the communicatio
between M&T and Plaintiff. Plaintiff has nestablished that M&T is a debt collect
under the FDCPA because the SAC does hega sufficient facts to establish th
M&T Bank’s principal business purpose isbileollection or that M&T “regularly

collects or attempts to collect . . . debtged or due anothér.15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6).

The Court concludes that Plaintiff hiasled to state a claim against Defend
M&T under the FDCPA.
2. Defendant Safeguard
In the Order dismissing Plaintiffs’ First Amended Complaint, this C

-13- 14cv1906 WQH (NLS)

11
tiff's

1%

S
on,
1S

S

nat

pf
T.

ant

ourt




© 00 N O 0o A W N P

N NN N DNNDNNDNDRRRRR R R B B
0w N O 0~ W N PFP O © 0N O 0O M W N R O

concluded “that the factuallegations regarding the goard contain no language
support Plaintiffs’ allegation that the positavas an attempt to collect a debtd.
The Court concluded that

[W]ith respect to the alleged attentptforce entry into Plaintiffs’ home,

thé factual allegations do not plausibly suggest facts to show that the

incident at Plaintiffs’ home was amtempt to collect a debt. The facts

alleged fail to show thdhe incident was more &m an attempt to verify

the occupancy of the property.

Id. The Court concluded that Plaintiffs fd to allege thaDefendant Safeguard
conduct constituted “debt colléeg” and therefore the Court did not reach the ques
whether Defendant Safeguard is a “datitector” under the FDCPA. (ECF No. 35
13).

Plaintiffs’ SAC contains the same assamng as the FAC in addition to these n
allegations: “Defendant Safeguard is a campthat regularly collects, both direc]
and indirectly, consumer debts from comers.” ECF No. 47 { 28. “Defendg
Safeguard is a company that regularly markstservices to nitgage companiesid.
1 29. Plaintiffs allege that

Defendant Safeguard advertises fisketvices that i[t] provides to its

clients, and amongI these services are communicating with delinquent

borrowers on behalf of mortgagempanies, contacting mortgagors 1o

request they call mortgage companiand re?ortlng back to mortgage

companies whether it has made comatit mortgagors and regarding the
condition of the mortgaged properties.
Id. 1 30. “Defendant Safeguanffers such services to nsortgage companies’ client
for the purpose of facilitating debt cedition, directly and indirectly.”Id.  31.
Plaintiffs allege that
Defendant Safeguard is a compangttso regularly engages in debt
collection activities under the FDCPA, thaertises to customers that it has
been involved in théobbying efforts in Congress to exempt companies
like Safeguard from "being regulated by the FDCPA, thereby
acknowledging its belief that it is a debt collector under the FDCPA.
Id. § 32. “Defendant Safeguard, on its wehsalso offers its services to ass
creditor[s] and collectors such as M&T Batiokmake personal visits in an attempt

facilitate consumer contact with the creditoameffort to get the consumer to pay
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alleged debt.” Id. § 33. “Defendant Saguard instructs its employees to not

ISe

language such as ‘debt’ analiection,’ in order to evadeeing characterized as a dgbt

collector, despite facilitating and aiding itgeat with debt collection being the malien

objective of its operation.td.  34. “Defendant Safeguasdeks out and hires form
debt collectors with training in the FaDebt Collection Practices Act.’ld. § 35.
“Defendant Safeguard is curtgnbeing sued for actions silar to those raised here
the state of lllinois by the attorney general of lllinoislid.  37. “Defendan

Safeguard’s principal andgelar activities revolve arounddlenforcement of security
interests.”ld. 1 38. “Defendant Safeguard routin&dkes the actioralleged herein to

r

n
£

collect alleged debt and enforce secunitierests from consumers across the Unjted

States.”Id. § 39.
Plaintiffinclude the same allegationgie SAC as the FAC regarding Defend
Safeguard’s attempt to collect a debtnfrd’laintiff Victoria Amelina by sendin

ant

D

Plaintiff a postcard requesting verificatiohoccupancy and by sending an agent to

Plaintiff's home. (ECF No. 47 at 11-14)Plaintiffs SAC also adds new allegatio
about these incidents. With regard to theparsl, Plaintiff alleges that “[tlhrough the
actions, Defendant Safeguardsataking actions to facilitate M&T'’s effort to colle

ns

e

[92)

Ct

on the alleged debt.”ld. § 76. Additionally, “Defadant Safeguard had no other

purpose to leave such a postcard other than to facilitate M&T'’s efforts to collect
alleged debt.”Id.  78. W.ith respect to DefenutaSafeguard sending an agent
Plaintiff’'s house, Plaintiffs contend thgijhrough these action®efendant Safeguat

at the instruction and assistance of M&®&ank, intended and took efforts to eff¢
dispossession and disablement of Pl#sitiproperty in violation of 15 U.S.C.

1692f(6).” 1d. § 102.
In its Motion to Dismiss, Defendant Sgteard contends that “Safeguard is

a debt collector and did not engage ibtdepllection conduct.” (ECF No. 49-1 at 1).

Defendant asserts that “Safeguard’s bussnecludes verifying sedential occupanc

— not debt collection.”Id. at 14. Defendant Safeguaadserts that “[t]his Couf
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previously found [allegations related t@tpostcard Plaintiff received from Defend:
Safeguard] to be insufficient to stata FDCPA claim against Safeguardd. at 8
(citing ECF No. 35). Defendant contentlet the new facts in the SAC allegi
Safeguard’s role as a debt collector ‘fuu speak to any conduct actually directes
any of the Plaintiffs or even related tafpitiffs in any wayput instead, only general
describe how Safeguard gedly markets itself, itemployment practices, and
involvement in a sepa® litigation in a different jurisdiction.” Id. Defendant
Safeguard contends that “Plaintiffs have not allegdficent facts to show tha
Defendant Safeguard was attempting to collect a détt.at 9.

The Court found that the deficiency iretRAC was Plaintiff's failure to meet
different requirement to state a claim unither FDCPA—to establish that “the plaint
has been the object of collection activitisarg from consumer debt.” (ECF No. 35
13);Pratap 63 F. Supp. 3d at 1113. Dismissing the FAC, the Court concluded tt
postcard and agent Defendant Safeguard & Plaintiff's house did not create
plausible inference that Defendant Safeduaas attempting to collect a debt frc
Plaintiff. (ECF No. 35 at 13). The poatd was a request t@rify occupancy an(
made no reference to collecting a debtairRiffs have not keged that Safeguard
agent who came Plaintiffs home made refee to any debt or made attempt;
collect from Plaintiff.

The conclusory allegations in the SAtat the purpose of the postcard and
agent’s visit were “to collect on the ajled debt” or “to effect dispossession &

disablement of Plaintiffs’ property” aresafficient to show tat Defendant Safeguar

was attempting to collect a del@ee Sprewel266 F.3d at 988 (a cdus not “required
to accept as true allegations that are mexa@hclusory, unwarranted deductions of fz
or unreasonable inferences”) (citation omittddipss 572 F.3d at 969 (“for a complai
to survive a motion to dismiss, the noohclusory factual content and reasone
inferences from that content, must be plausibly suggestive of a claim entitlir
plaintiff to relief”) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). Because the (

-16 - 14cv1906 WQH (NLS)

ANt

=)

g
l at

Yy

—

|

S
5 10

the
.nd

ACt,

ble
g th

Court




© 00 N O 0o A W N P

N NN N DNNDNNDNDRRRRR R R B B
0w N O 0~ W N PFP O © 0N O 0O M W N R O

finds that the alleged conduct of Defenti&afeguard does nabnstitute “deb
collecting,” the Court need not determimtnether Defendant Safeguard is a “debt
collector” under the FDCPASee Santoro v. CTC Foreclosure SeryiceFed. Appx
476, 480 (9th Cir. 2001) (“We need not deandeether Countrywide is a debt collector
under the FDCPA because we hold thatdbeduct, as allegedioes not constitute
‘debt collectiong.™).

3. Defendant Wolf Law Firm

In the prior Order dismissing the FAie Court concluded that Plaintiff did niot
sufficiently allege that Defendant Wdlaw Firm was a “debt collector” under either
definition set forth in 15 U.S.C. § 1692a. E No. 35 at 15) (“Plaintiffs failed tp
allege facts that wuld permit the Court to draw the reasonable inference that the
principal purpose of Defendant Wolf Law Fisybusiness is the collection of debt.”
Id. “Plaintiffs’ first amended complaint fails t@lege ‘factual content that allows the
court to daw the reasonable infereniteit Defendants are ‘debt collectorSchlegel
720 F.3d at 1208).")1d.

The Court concluded “that Plaintiffs'rit amended complaint fails to allege
sufficient facts to show that Defendant Wbaw Firm was attempting to collect|a
debt.” Id. The Court based its cdnsions on Plaintiff's failure to “provide the contgnt
of the letters sent by Defendaiolf Law Firm in its allegd attempt to collect a debt.”
Id. The Court concluded that “[t]Jo the ext&taintiffs’ first amended complaint alleges
that Defendant Wolf Law Firm sent Plafh copies of the Notice of Trustee Sale,
activity related to a nonjudicial foreclosutees not constitute debt collection underjthe
FDCPA.” Id.

The SAC contains the allegations oétRAC and these additional allegatiops:
“Defendant Wolf identifies itself as a detaillector in correspondence to consumeys.”
(ECF No. 47 1 25). “Defendant Wolf adveesstself on its website as a collection firm
and even maintains a separate contaxtand email addss for the Collections
Department.”ld. § 26. With respect to the contenfghe letters Wolf Law Firm sent
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to Plaintiff Victoria Amelina, Plaintiffs kege “[e]ach of these letters urged Plain

Victoria Amelina to pay the alleged debtsuffer the consequences of foreclosur

Id. 1191 113, 118, 123.

Defendant Wolf Law Firm contendghat “Plaintiffs allegations remai
insufficient to justify their contention that Wa#f a debt collectar. . or otherwise acte
... as anything other than a foreclostrustee.” (ECF No. 50-1 at 7pefendant Wolf
Law Firm contends that becsei“Plaintiffs wholly fail toallege actual malice by Wolf
Defendant is entitled to immunity from tbkaims against it under California Civil Cof

section 2924(d).Id. At 7-9. DefendanWolf Law Firm contends that Plaintiffs

allegations “are simply conclusory statementsthat appear to coincide with Woll
obligations required by California statutegpgrforming its trustee’s duties — to not
the occupier of the property that the property was in defaott, that a sale wa

scheduled.d. at 11. Defendant Wolf Law Firm afles that Plaintiff “fail[s] to defing

‘collection’ or ‘collection firm’ or otherwige specifically allege that Wolf's princip
business purpose is the collection of debtdedsed under Sections 1692a(6), et
Id. at 7. Defendant Wolf Law Firm contentiat “since Plaintiffs did not attach tl
actual letters or otherwise allege theaetxlanguage utilized by Wolf,” Plaintiffg
allegations that letters sent to Plaindictoria Amelina urged her to pay a debt
suffer the consequences of foreclosure ‘$albrt of what is necessary to substant
their allegations that Wolf's conduct fetlutside the scope of its duties as
foreclosure trustee.ld.

Plaintiff contends that “[b]y specifically alleging that a major part of Wq
principal operations is to collect onfdalted mortgageshy collecting money o
property, Plaintiffs have sufficiently pleagkausible claim that collection of defaults

debts is a principal purpose amgjular activity of Wolf.” (ECF No. 55 at 12). Plaintiff

contends that Defendant Wolf Law Firnmist immune from suit based on its statu
atrustee performing non-judicial foreclosuelated activities because “Defendant W
went beyond what was required” to fulfill its trustee duties “by sending twenty
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copies of several lettersltl. at 13. (citingNatividad v. Wells Fargo Bankl.A., 2013
U.S. Dist. LEXIS 74067, *28 (N.D. Cal. May 24, 2013) (“persons who regular
principally engage in communications witlebtors concerning their default that
beyond the statutorily mandated commutiares required for foreclosure may

considered debt collectors.”)). Plaintiirtends that “Defendant Wolf went above 4

y or
go
ne
and

beyond the requirements [California law imposesrustees] to the point of harassment

and abuse by sending more excessivdichafes of the required noticesld. At 16.
“Defendant Wolf does not eveitempt to explain this series of mailings in multity
was a mistake; it seems clear that Defendant Wolf intentionally took this actio
malice to intimidate and harass Plaintiffdd.

In order to state a claim under the FDCPAjRiff must allege that “the plaintif
has been the object of collection activatysing from a consumer debt Pratap, 63
F. Supp. 3d at 1113. To the extent thatSAC alleges that Bendant Wolf Law Firm
sent copies of the Notice of Trustee Satgivity related to nonjudicial foreclosure dg
not constitute debt collection under the FDCP3ee Pratap63 F. Supp. 3d at 111
(“[T]he overwhelming majority of courtsitiin the Ninth Circuit have concluded th
nonjudicial foreclosures do not constitute debt collection under the FDCEF
Valenzuela v. Wells Fgo Bank Nat. Ass’nNo. CV F 13-1620 LJO JLT, 2014 W
309438, at *17 (E.D. Cal. Jan. 28, 2014) (“The complaint’s limited meani
allegations address foreclosynot debt collection activigsesubject to the FDCPA. |
the absence of facts of actionable deditection, a claim based on the FDCPA
subject to dismissal.”)tzenberg v. ETS Servs., LI%39 F. Supp. 2d 1193, 1199 (C|
Cal. 2008) (“[F]oreclosing on a property pursu@ara deed of truss not the collectiorn

of a debt within the meaning of the FDCPA.Rged v. Wells Fargo Home Mortg. In|[c.
y of

No. 10-2133, 2010 WL 5136196, at *7 (E.D. Cal. Dec. 10, 2010) (“The activi
foreclosing on a property pursuant to a deed of trust is not the collection of
within the meaning of the FDCPA . .. .").

Plaintiff added the allegation in the SAhat letters Plaintiffs received from
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Defendant Wolf Law Firm in April and Ju2014, prior to receiving the Notice

Trustee Sale “urged Plaintiff Victoria Aringa to pay the alleged debt or suffer {
consequences of foreclosurdlaintiff, however, does not provide the content of
letters or allege facts to show that tbeders were outside the scope of nonjudi
foreclosure duties. Plaintiff has not alledadts sufficient to show that these lett
constituted debt collection under the FDCF&e Natividad v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.
No. 312-cv-03646, 2013 WL 2299601, at *9 (N.D. Cal. May 24, 2013) (“giver
absence of any factual allegations beytr& conclusion that Defendants ‘sought
collect’ money and funds, Plaintiffs have fail® allege facts thauggest [Defendant
were collecting a debt ostherwise qualify as ‘debt collectors’ under the Ac
Plaintiff has not sufficiently alleged thaending multiple copies of letters and

he
the

clal

(D

rs
A.

1 the
to

5]
"),
he

Notice of Trustee Sale went beyond theudtaily required duties of a foreclosufe

trustee See id.(“the Court concludes that legalimandated actions required
mortgage foreclosure are not necessarily debection, and that Plaintiffs have
adequately alleged thany Defendant engad in any action beyond statutor
mandated actions for non judicial foreclosuhe, Court concludes that Plaintiffs ha
not sufficiently pled a FDCPAlaim”). Because the Plaintiff did not sufficiently alle
facts to show that the activities of Defendéfalf Law Firm constituted debt collectig
activity under the FDCPA, the Court finds tRdaintiff failed to state a claim under t
FDCPA against Defendant Wolf Law Firm.
STATE LAW CLAIMS

The remaining four causes of action ass@fations of California state law
Plaintiffs allege that this Court has sugmplental jurisdiction over the state law clai
pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367.

The federal supplemental jurisdiction statute provides: “in any civil actic
which the district courts have originalrigdiction, the district courts shall ha
supplemental jurisdiction over all other claimatthre so related to claims in the act
within such original jurisdiction that théprm part of the same case or controve
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under Article Il of the United States Constitution.” 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a). A di
court may decline to exercise supplemental jurisdiction over a state law claim i
(1) the claim raises a novel or complex issue of State law,

(2) the claim substantially predomieatover the claim or claims over
which the district court has original jurisdiction

(3) the district court has dismissall claims over which it has original
jurisdiction, or

(4) in exceptional circumstances, there are other compelling reasons fof

declining jurisdiction.
28 U.S.C. 8 1367(c). Having disssed the federal claims asserted by Plaintiffs ag
the Defendants, the Court declines to eiser supplemental jurisdiction over the st
law claims against the moving Defemds pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367(8ee Sar
Pedro Hotel Co., Inc. v. City of Los Angel&59 F.3d 470, 478 (9th Cir. 1998).

CONCLUSION

Defendant M&T contends that “Plaintiffeve not and cannatlege any claim
against M&T, and therefore the court mgeant M&T’s Motion and dismiss this SA
without leave to amend.” (ECF No. 48-12t Defendant Safeguard contends |
“given that this is Plaintiff's third pleadirgjfort, it is plain they cannot cure the defe

in their claims. . . . thre is no basis to grant Plaintiffs leave to amend their pleadings.

(ECF No. 49-1 at 24). Defendant Wolf L&wrm contends that “[t]his is Plaintiff’
third opportunity to sufficiently allege @ause of action against Wolf, to no av
Therefore, further leave to amend appéatite. Thus, Wolf respectfully requests th
this court grant its motion with prejudice(ECF No. 50-1 at 11). In response to e
motion to dismiss, Plaintiffs state thattfifis Court is persuaded that Plaintiff's S
suffers from any curable deficiencies, Ptdfrrespectfully requests leave to amen
(ECF Nos. 51 at 26; 52 at 31; 55 at 22).
I

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the Motiorie Dismiss (ECF Nos. 48, 49, 5

are granted. Plaintiffs may file a motitor leave to file a Third Amended Complaint
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within thirty (30) days of the dateithorder is issued, accompanied by the prop(
Third Amended Complaint. If Plaintiffs dwt file a motion to file a Third Amende
Complaint within thirty (30) days of the dates order is issued, the Clerk of the Cqa

shall close the case.
DATED: November 17, 2015

G it 2. A
WILLIAM Q. HAY
United States District Judge
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